
 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 1 of 146 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Agenda 

Friday, January 3, 2020 ◊ 6:30 PM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

Opening 
1. Welcome - Call to Order 

2. Invocation 

3. Pledge of Allegiance (KI) 

Zoning/Public Hearing 
4. Request by Howard McMichael, Jr. agent for Millicent Arnold & Lawrence A. Copelan Jr. to rezone 

2.14 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 030, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

5. Request by Howard McMichael, Jr., agent for HJR Oconee, LLC, to rezone 50.8 acres on Collis Road 

from AG-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 032, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

6. Request by Howard McMichael, Jr., agent for Millicent Arnold & L.A. Copelan Jr., to rezone 0.63 acres 

on Doug Lane from R-1 to RM-3 [Map 104B, Parcel 001, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

7. Request by Howard McMichael, Jr., agent for Millicent Arnold & L.A. Copelan Jr., to rezone 3.5 acres 

on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 033, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

Regular Business Meeting 
8. Approval of Agenda 

9. Public Comments 

10. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - December 17, 2019 Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Approval of Minutes - December 17, 2019 Executive Session (staff-CC) 

c. Approval of 2020 Alcohol Licenses (staff-CC) 

d. Appointment of Phillip Armstrong to Complete Count Committee (BW) 

Reports/Announcements 
11. County Manager Report 

12. County Attorney Report 

13. Commissioner Announcements 

Executive Session 
14. Enter Executive Session as allowed by O.C.G.A. 50-14-4 for Personnel, Litigation, or Real Estate 

15. Reopen Meeting and execute Affidavit concerning the subject matter of the closed portion of the meeting 

16. Action, if any, resulting from the Executive Session 

Closing 
17. Adjournment 

  

1



 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 2 of 146 

Item Attachment Documents: 

 
Request by Howard McMichael, Jr. agent for Millicent Arnold & Lawrence A. Copelan Jr. to 

rezone 2.14 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 030, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

  

2



Request by Howard McMichael, Jr. agent for Millicent Arnold & Lawrence A. 
Copelan Jr. to rezone 2.14 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3. [Map 

104, Parcel 030, District 3].  
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The applicants are seeking to rezone this parcel along with three adjacent parcels 

with a total of 57.07 acres from R-1 to RM-3. If approved, the applicant would like 
to combine the four parcels in order to develop a waterfront community. The 

proposed development will consist of a total number of 124 Multi-Family 
Townhomes having the main entrance on Collis Road.  This would add 
approximately 310 residents to the neighborhood. The applicants are proposing to 

develop this subdivision in accordance with the Putnam County Development Codes 
with townhome and condominium units similar to Enclave at Waterfront and 

Cuscowilla Condominium and Townhome Units. Water and sewer are provided by 
Piedmont Water Resources. According to the applicant, the proposed use will place 
emphasis on lakeshore protection, recreation use of Lake Oconee, and promote 

common open space for property owners. 
 

The subject property is surrounded by both R-1 and AG-1 zoning, and it fronts one 
collector road (Collis Road) which will require operational improvements to safely 

accommodate the significant traffic volumes that will be generated from this 
development, if this rezoning is approved.   
 

Collis Road is a two-lane collector road with average pavement width of 
approximately 20 feet. Collis Road terminates at Wards Chapel Road, which is a 

major collector road. Adequate horizontal and vertical sight distance exists to the 
east and west of Wards Chapel Road for those vehicles exiting Collis Road.  The 
intersection radius at Collis Road & Wards Chapel is deficient and will need to be 

increased to a minimum of 25 feet to accommodate the additional traffic volumes. 
Based on the traffic study submitted by the applicant, the proposed development 

will increase daily traffic by 70% on Collis Road from the existing 1,331 two-way 
trips to 2,261 trips per day. The additional 930 trips on Collis Road, in addition to 
the substantial construction traffic associated with this development, will 

significantly impact the roadway pavement to the point of accelerated deterioration. 
Given the minimal asphalt thickness that exists on Collis Road, the county would 

expect the pavement will begin to substantially deteriorate within 2 years of 
construction commencing on this development. Pavement re-construction would be 
the recommended method of repair to Collis Road.  

 
Although the Future Land Use Comprehensive Plan is Agriculture/Forestry in this 

area, there are several similar developments within a five-mile radius of the 
proposed location. Recent development trends also indicate that single family and 
multifamily development will continue to occur in this area. Even though the 

development will have a significant impact on the area, the following 
recommendations will help mitigate these adverse impacts.  

  

3



Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 2.14 acres on Collis Road 
[Map 104, Parcel 030, District 3] from R-1 to RM-3 with the following 

conditions: 
1) The construction traffic associated with this development will have a 

detrimental short- and long-term impact to the serviceability of the 
roadway pavement of Collis Road. In addition, the increase in traffic 
volume generated upon built-out of this development will result in 

accelerated deterioration of the roadway pavement and the 
intersection radius at Wards Chapel and Collis Road. 

 
To offset the impacts to the existing pavement, the roadway reclamation 
and resurfacing repair tasks undertaken on Collis Road is recommended to 

be apportioned based this development share of the pavement impacts.  
The developer’s share of the repair cost will be provided to the county at 

specific development stages as described below.   
 
The private and public funding will be applied to performing the following 

roadway repairs: 
 

 Full depth reclamation of Collis Road. Reclaimed asphalt 
millings to be compacted prior to asphalt placement. Total 

length of roadway is 3,581 feet 
 Roadway resurfacing; surface course of 1.25 inches of 9.5 mm 

asphaltic concrete and binder course of 1.5 inches of 12.5 mm 

asphaltic concrete 
 Thermoplastic edge and centerline striping  

 Shoulder rehabilitation & traffic control 
Total estimated cost for performing these pavement repairs on Collis Road 
is $201,525. Assuming a 2023 completion date of the proposed 

development and utilizing a 7% per year cost escalation for labor and 
materials, the cost to perform this work in 2023 would be approximately 

$264,158. The cost apportioned to the applicant is determined to be 65% 
or $171,703. 
The cost to reconstruct the Wards Chapel at Collis Road intersection radii 

will be $10,000. The scope of work will consist of increasing the radii to a 
minimum of 25 feet with the widened section to be constructed with 6 

inches of graded aggregate base and 2.5 inches of 12.5 mm asphaltic 
concrete. The developer will be responsible for 100% of this repair cost. 
 

The total cost apportioned to the developer for intersection radii repairs 
and pavement reclamation and resurfacing will be $181,703. 

The applicant (developer) will provide incremental payments to the county 
at the following stages of the project development; 

 At rezoning approval by Board of Commissioners, 20% of the 

total amount or $36,340.60 will be provided to the county. This 
payment shall occur before a LDP is issued by the county. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 
Planning & Development for the initial 20% of the total units 

4



(total units as approved during the rezoning), the county will 
receive $36,340.6 from the developer 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 
Planning & Development for the subsequent 20% (or 40% 

total), the county will receive $36,340.6. 
 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 

Planning & Development for the subsequent 20% (or 60% 

total), the county will receive the remaining developer share of 
the total project repair cost of $72,681.20. 

 No payment will be required when the final 40% of the units 
receive a Certificate of Occupancy. 

The County will require that the payment at each stage of Certificate of 

Occupancy (at each 20% phase) be received either prior to or at the time 
that the unit resulting in reaching the 20% Certificate of Occupancy stage 

is attained. 
 

2) The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in 

combination of water quality retention ponds, will require 
implementation to minimize the negative effects of stormwater 

runoff from development imperviousness to Lake Oconee. The GA 
Stormwater Manual will be applied to the project under review. The 

manual’s water quality template will be used to assess the various 
water quality BMP options.  

3) Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces. 

Location of trees shall be determined by the county during the site 
development review (LDP phase). Provide two – 3-inch caliper trees 

per 100 feet on the shoulder of all roadways within the development. 
Trees to be placed on both sides of all internal roads. Specific 
location of the trees adjacent to the internal roads to be determined 

by the county during the site development review process. These 
tree plantings shall not preclude the developer from installing 

additional vegetation as he/she deems appropriate. 
4) Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the 

property line on Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential 

parcels on Collis Marina Road. The additional plantings shall provide 
a 75% buffer within 3 years of planting. Landscape plan and species 

to be approved during the development review phase 
5) Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road. Emergency exit shall 

not be paved. “Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the 

surface treatment for this access. A removable bollard (s) or similar 
barrier shall be used with only emergency services being provided 

entryway   
6) Deed an additional 10 feet of right-of-way along the property 

frontage (25 feet of ROW as measured from the road centerline). 

Deeded right-of-way shall be recorded with the Clerk of Courts 
during the platting process 

7) Construct a 5-foot shoulder and roadside ditches (minimum 2:1 side 
slopes) along the development’s frontage on Collis Road 

5



8) A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be 
required. This includes all structures and stormwater management 

facilities. Walkways/paths and boat docks are excluded from this 
setback requirement.   

9) This development project shall only include townhouses and/or 
condominiums not to exceed the proposed total of 124 units. Any 
increase beyond this total will require approval from the Board of 

Commissioner.  
10) Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access. Access 

shall be from Collis Road. 
 

11) This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and 

recordation of the plat as stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the 
Putnam County Code of Ordinances. 

 
 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to rezone 2.14 
acres on Collis Road [Map 104, Parcel 030, District 3] from R-1 to RM-3 with the 

following conditions: 
1) The construction traffic associated with this development will have a 

detrimental short- and long-term impact to the serviceability of the roadway 

pavement of Collis Road. In addition, the increase in traffic volume generated 
upon built-out of this development will result in accelerated deterioration of 

the roadway pavement and the intersection radius at Wards Chapel and 
Collis Road. 

 

To offset the impacts to the existing pavement, the roadway reclamation and 
resurfacing repair tasks undertaken on Collis Road is recommended to be 

apportioned based this development share of the pavement impacts.  The 
developer’s share of the repair cost will be provided to the county at specific 
development stages as described below.   

 
The private and public funding will be applied to performing the following roadway 

repairs: 
 

 Full depth reclamation of Collis Road. Reclaimed asphalt millings to be 

compacted prior to asphalt placement. Total length of roadway is 
3,581 feet 

 Roadway resurfacing; surface course of 1.25 inches of 9.5 mm 
asphaltic concrete and binder course of 1.5 inches of 12.5 mm 
asphaltic concrete 

 Thermoplastic edge and centerline striping  
 Shoulder rehabilitation & traffic control 

Total estimated cost for performing these pavement repairs on Collis Road is 
$201,525. Assuming a 2023 completion date of the proposed development and 

6



utilizing a 7% per year cost escalation for labor and materials, the cost to perform 
this work in 2023 would be approximately $264,158. The cost apportioned to the 

applicant is determined to be 65% or $171,703. 
The cost to reconstruct the Wards Chapel at Collis Road intersection radii will be 

$10,000. The scope of work will consist of increasing the radii to a minimum of 25 
feet with the widened section to be constructed with 6 inches of graded aggregate 
base and 2.5 inches of 12.5 mm asphaltic concrete. The developer will be 

responsible for 100% of this repair cost. 
 

The total cost apportioned to the developer for intersection radii repairs and 
pavement reclamation and resurfacing will be $181,703. 
The applicant (developer) will provide incremental payments to the county at the 

following stages of the project development; 
 At rezoning approval by Board of Commissioners, 20% of the total 

amount or $36,340.60 will be provided to the county. This payment 
shall occur before a LDP is issued by the county. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the initial 20% of the total units (total units as 
approved during the rezoning), the county will receive $36,340.6 from 

the developer 
 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the subsequent 20% (or 40% total), the county will 
receive $36,340.6. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the subsequent 20% (or 60% total), the county will 
receive the remaining developer share of the total project repair cost 

of $72,681.20. 
 No payment will be required when the final 40% of the units receive a 

Certificate of Occupancy. 

The County will require that the payment at each stage of Certificate of Occupancy 
(at each 20% phase) be received either prior to or at the time that the unit 

resulting in reaching the 20% Certificate of Occupancy stage is attained. 
 

2) The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in 

combination of water quality retention ponds, will require implementation to 
minimize the negative effects of stormwater runoff from development 

imperviousness to Lake Oconee. The GA Stormwater Manual will be applied 
to the project under review. The manual’s water quality template will be used 
to assess the various water quality BMP options.  

3) Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces. Location of 
trees shall be determined by the county during the site development review 

(LDP phase). Provide two – 3-inch caliper trees per 100 feet on the shoulder 
of all roadways within the development. Trees to be placed on both sides of 
all internal roads. Specific location of the trees adjacent to the internal roads 

to be determined by the county during the site development review process. 
These tree plantings shall not preclude the developer from installing 

additional vegetation as he/she deems appropriate. 

7



4) Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the property 
line on Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential parcels on Collis 

Marina Road. The additional plantings shall provide a 75% buffer within 3 
years of planting. Landscape plan and species to be approved during the 

development review phase 
5) Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road. Emergency exit shall not be 

paved. “Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the surface 

treatment for this access. A removable bollard (s) or similar barrier shall be 
used with only emergency services being provided entryway   

6) Deed an additional 10 feet of right-of-way along the property frontage (25 
feet of ROW as measured from the road centerline). Deeded right-of-way 
shall be recorded with the Clerk of Courts during the platting process 

7) Construct a 5-foot shoulder and roadside ditches (minimum 2:1 side slopes) 
along the development’s frontage on Collis Road 

8) A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be required. 
This includes all structures and stormwater management facilities. 
Walkways/paths and boat docks are excluded from this setback requirement.   

9) This development project shall only include townhouses and/or 
condominiums not to exceed the proposed total of 124 units. Any increase 

beyond this total will require approval from the Board of Commissioner.  
10) Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access. Access shall be 

from Collis Road. 
 

11) This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and 

recordation of the plat as stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the Putnam 
County Code of Ordinances. 

 

8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



104
 03

0

104 033

104B022

104B065

104B064

10
4 0

24 104 025

104027

104A071

104A072

104A075

104A077
104A078

104A079

104A080

104A081

104A085

104
 02

8

104B083

104B026 104B078
104B079

104B025

104B027
104B028

104B063

104B081

104B030

104B032

104B024

104 032

104
B085

104B086

104
B084

104C015002

10
4C

00
7

104C077

104C078

104C079
104C080

104
C015

001

104 027001

104
A070

001

104A074

104
B0

87

120
001

104A069

104A070

104A049002

104A049

Coll
is R

est
au

ran
t R

d N
E

Collis
 Rd NE

Collis Cir NE

Reynolds Dr NE

Wards Chapel Rd NE
Collis Marina Rd NE

Co
pe

lan
La

ndi

ng Dr NE

Collis Rd NE

R-1

AG-1 RM-3

AG-2

C-2 32



33



34



 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 35 of 146 

Item Attachment Documents: 

 
5. Request by Howard McMichael, Jr., agent for HJR Oconee, LLC, to rezone 50.8 acres on Collis 

Road from AG-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 032, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

  

35

Item #5.



Request by Howard McMichael, Jr., agent for HJR Oconee, LLC, to rezone 
50.8 acres on Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3. [Map 104, Parcel 032, District 

3].  
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The applicants are seeking to rezone this parcel along with three adjacent parcels 

with a total of 57.07 acres from R-1 to RM-3. If approved, the applicant would like 
to combine the four parcels in order to develop a waterfront community. The 

proposed development will consist of a total number of 124 Multi-Family 
Townhomes having the main entrance on Collis Road.  This would add 
approximately 310 residents to the neighborhood. The applicants are proposing to 

develop this subdivision in accordance with the Putnam County Development Codes 
with townhome and condominium units similar to Enclave at Waterfront and 

Cuscowilla Condominium and Townhome Units. Water and sewer are provided by 
Piedmont Water Resources. According to the applicant, the proposed use will place 
emphasis on lakeshore protection, recreation use of Lake Oconee, and promote 

common open space for property owners. 
 

The subject property is surrounded by both R-1 and AG-1 zoning, and it fronts one 
collector road (Collis Road) which will require operational improvements to safely 

accommodate the significant traffic volumes that will be generated from this 
development, if this rezoning is approved.   
 

Collis Road is a two-lane collector road with average pavement width of 
approximately 20 feet. Collis Road terminates at Wards Chapel Road, which is a 

major collector road. Adequate horizontal and vertical sight distance exists to the 
east and west of Wards Chapel Road for those vehicles exiting Collis Road.  The 
intersection radius at Collis Road & Wards Chapel is deficient and will need to be 

increased to a minimum of 25 feet to accommodate the additional traffic volumes. 
Based on the traffic study submitted by the applicant, the proposed development 

will increase daily traffic by 70% on Collis Road from the existing 1,331 two-way 
trips to 2,261 trips per day. The additional 930 trips on Collis Road, in addition to 
the substantial construction traffic associated with this development, will 

significantly impact the roadway pavement to the point of accelerated deterioration. 
Given the minimal asphalt thickness that exists on Collis Road, the county would 

expect the pavement will begin to substantially deteriorate within 2 years of 
construction commencing on this development. Pavement re-construction would be 
the recommended method of repair to Collis Road.  

 
Although the Future Land Use Comprehensive Plan is Agriculture/Forestry in this 

area, there are several similar developments within a five-mile radius of the 
proposed location. Recent development trends also indicate that single family and 
multifamily development will continue to occur in this area. Even though the 

development will have a significant impact on the area, the following 
recommendations will help mitigate these adverse impacts.  

  

36

Item #5.



Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 50.8 acres on Collis Road 
[Map 104, Parcel 032, District 3] from AG-1 to RM-3 with the following 

conditions: 
1) The construction traffic associated with this development will have a 

detrimental short- and long-term impact to the serviceability of the 
roadway pavement of Collis Road. In addition, the increase in traffic 
volume generated upon built-out of this development will result in 

accelerated deterioration of the roadway pavement and the 
intersection radius at Wards Chapel and Collis Road. 

 
To offset the impacts to the existing pavement, the roadway reclamation 
and resurfacing repair tasks undertaken on Collis Road is recommended to 

be apportioned based this development share of the pavement impacts.  
The developer’s share of the repair cost will be provided to the county at 

specific development stages as described below.   
 
The private and public funding will be applied to performing the following 

roadway repairs: 
 

 Full depth reclamation of Collis Road. Reclaimed asphalt 
millings to be compacted prior to asphalt placement. Total 

length of roadway is 3,581 feet 
 Roadway resurfacing; surface course of 1.25 inches of 9.5 mm 

asphaltic concrete and binder course of 1.5 inches of 12.5 mm 

asphaltic concrete 
 Thermoplastic edge and centerline striping  

 Shoulder rehabilitation & traffic control 
Total estimated cost for performing these pavement repairs on Collis Road 
is $201,525. Assuming a 2023 completion date of the proposed 

development and utilizing a 7% per year cost escalation for labor and 
materials, the cost to perform this work in 2023 would be approximately 

$264,158. The cost apportioned to the applicant is determined to be 65% 
or $171,703. 
The cost to reconstruct the Wards Chapel at Collis Road intersection radii 

will be $10,000. The scope of work will consist of increasing the radii to a 
minimum of 25 feet with the widened section to be constructed with 6 

inches of graded aggregate base and 2.5 inches of 12.5 mm asphaltic 
concrete. The developer will be responsible for 100% of this repair cost. 
 

The total cost apportioned to the developer for intersection radii repairs 
and pavement reclamation and resurfacing will be $181,703. 

The applicant (developer) will provide incremental payments to the county 
at the following stages of the project development; 

 At rezoning approval by Board of Commissioners, 20% of the 

total amount or $36,340.60 will be provided to the county. This 
payment shall occur before a LDP is issued by the county. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 
Planning & Development for the initial 20% of the total units 

37

Item #5.



(total units as approved during the rezoning), the county will 
receive $36,340.6 from the developer 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 
Planning & Development for the subsequent 20% (or 40% 

total), the county will receive $36,340.6. 
 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 

Planning & Development for the subsequent 20% (or 60% 

total), the county will receive the remaining developer share of 
the total project repair cost of $72,681.20. 

 No payment will be required when the final 40% of the units 
receive a Certificate of Occupancy. 

The County will require that the payment at each stage of Certificate of 

Occupancy (at each 20% phase) be received either prior to or at the time 
that the unit resulting in reaching the 20% Certificate of Occupancy stage 

is attained. 
 

2) The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in 

combination of water quality retention ponds, will require 
implementation to minimize the negative effects of stormwater 

runoff from development imperviousness to Lake Oconee. The GA 
Stormwater Manual will be applied to the project under review. The 

manual’s water quality template will be used to assess the various 
water quality BMP options.  

3) Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces. 

Location of trees shall be determined by the county during the site 
development review (LDP phase). Provide two – 3-inch caliper trees 

per 100 feet on the shoulder of all roadways within the development. 
Trees to be placed on both sides of all internal roads. Specific 
location of the trees adjacent to the internal roads to be determined 

by the county during the site development review process. These 
tree plantings shall not preclude the developer from installing 

additional vegetation as he/she deems appropriate. 
4) Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the 

property line on Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential 

parcels on Collis Marina Road. The additional plantings shall provide 
a 75% buffer within 3 years of planting. Landscape plan and species 

to be approved during the development review phase 
5) Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road. Emergency exit shall 

not be paved. “Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the 

surface treatment for this access. A removable bollard (s) or similar 
barrier shall be used with only emergency services being provided 

entryway   
6) Deed an additional 10 feet of right-of-way along the property 

frontage (25 feet of ROW as measured from the road centerline). 

Deeded right-of-way shall be recorded with the Clerk of Courts 
during the platting process 

7) Construct a 5-foot shoulder and roadside ditches (minimum 2:1 side 
slopes) along the development’s frontage on Collis Road 

38

Item #5.



8) A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be 
required. This includes all structures and stormwater management 

facilities. Walkways/paths and boat docks are excluded from this 
setback requirement.   

9) This development project shall only include townhouses and/or 
condominiums not to exceed the proposed total of 124 units. Any 
increase beyond this total will require approval from the Board of 

Commissioner.  
10) Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access. Access 

shall be from Collis Road. 
 

11) This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and 

recordation of the plat as stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the 
Putnam County Code of Ordinances. 

 
 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to rezone 50.8 
acres on Collis Road [Map 104, Parcel 032, District 3] from AG-1 to RM-3 with the 

following conditions: 
1) The construction traffic associated with this development will have a 

detrimental short- and long-term impact to the serviceability of the roadway 

pavement of Collis Road. In addition, the increase in traffic volume generated 
upon built-out of this development will result in accelerated deterioration of 

the roadway pavement and the intersection radius at Wards Chapel and 
Collis Road. 

 

To offset the impacts to the existing pavement, the roadway reclamation and 
resurfacing repair tasks undertaken on Collis Road is recommended to be 

apportioned based this development share of the pavement impacts.  The 
developer’s share of the repair cost will be provided to the county at specific 
development stages as described below.   

 
The private and public funding will be applied to performing the following roadway 

repairs: 
 

 Full depth reclamation of Collis Road. Reclaimed asphalt millings to be 

compacted prior to asphalt placement. Total length of roadway is 
3,581 feet 

 Roadway resurfacing; surface course of 1.25 inches of 9.5 mm 
asphaltic concrete and binder course of 1.5 inches of 12.5 mm 
asphaltic concrete 

 Thermoplastic edge and centerline striping  
 Shoulder rehabilitation & traffic control 

Total estimated cost for performing these pavement repairs on Collis Road is 
$201,525. Assuming a 2023 completion date of the proposed development and 

39

Item #5.



utilizing a 7% per year cost escalation for labor and materials, the cost to perform 
this work in 2023 would be approximately $264,158. The cost apportioned to the 

applicant is determined to be 65% or $171,703. 
The cost to reconstruct the Wards Chapel at Collis Road intersection radii will be 

$10,000. The scope of work will consist of increasing the radii to a minimum of 25 
feet with the widened section to be constructed with 6 inches of graded aggregate 
base and 2.5 inches of 12.5 mm asphaltic concrete. The developer will be 

responsible for 100% of this repair cost. 
 

The total cost apportioned to the developer for intersection radii repairs and 
pavement reclamation and resurfacing will be $181,703. 
The applicant (developer) will provide incremental payments to the county at the 

following stages of the project development; 
 At rezoning approval by Board of Commissioners, 20% of the total 

amount or $36,340.60 will be provided to the county. This payment 
shall occur before a LDP is issued by the county. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the initial 20% of the total units (total units as 
approved during the rezoning), the county will receive $36,340.6 from 

the developer 
 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the subsequent 20% (or 40% total), the county will 
receive $36,340.6. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the subsequent 20% (or 60% total), the county will 
receive the remaining developer share of the total project repair cost 

of $72,681.20. 
 No payment will be required when the final 40% of the units receive a 

Certificate of Occupancy. 

The County will require that the payment at each stage of Certificate of Occupancy 
(at each 20% phase) be received either prior to or at the time that the unit 

resulting in reaching the 20% Certificate of Occupancy stage is attained. 
 

2) The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in 

combination of water quality retention ponds, will require implementation to 
minimize the negative effects of stormwater runoff from development 

imperviousness to Lake Oconee. The GA Stormwater Manual will be applied 
to the project under review. The manual’s water quality template will be used 
to assess the various water quality BMP options.  

3) Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces. Location of 
trees shall be determined by the county during the site development review 

(LDP phase). Provide two – 3-inch caliper trees per 100 feet on the shoulder 
of all roadways within the development. Trees to be placed on both sides of 
all internal roads. Specific location of the trees adjacent to the internal roads 

to be determined by the county during the site development review process. 
These tree plantings shall not preclude the developer from installing 

additional vegetation as he/she deems appropriate. 

40

Item #5.



4) Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the property 
line on Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential parcels on Collis 

Marina Road. The additional plantings shall provide a 75% buffer within 3 
years of planting. Landscape plan and species to be approved during the 

development review phase 
5) Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road. Emergency exit shall not be 

paved. “Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the surface 

treatment for this access. A removable bollard (s) or similar barrier shall be 
used with only emergency services being provided entryway   

6) Deed an additional 10 feet of right-of-way along the property frontage (25 
feet of ROW as measured from the road centerline). Deeded right-of-way 
shall be recorded with the Clerk of Courts during the platting process 

7) Construct a 5-foot shoulder and roadside ditches (minimum 2:1 side slopes) 
along the development’s frontage on Collis Road 

8) A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be required. 
This includes all structures and stormwater management facilities. 
Walkways/paths and boat docks are excluded from this setback requirement.   

9) This development project shall only include townhouses and/or 
condominiums not to exceed the proposed total of 124 units. Any increase 

beyond this total will require approval from the Board of Commissioner.  
10) Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access. Access shall be 

from Collis Road. 
 

11) This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and 

recordation of the plat as stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the Putnam 
County Code of Ordinances. 

41

Item #5.



42

Item #5.



43

Item #5.



44

Item #5.



45

Item #5.



46

Item #5.



47

Item #5.



48

Item #5.



49

Item #5.



50

Item #5.



51

Item #5.



52

Item #5.



53

Item #5.



54

Item #5.



55

Item #5.



56

Item #5.



57

Item #5.



58

Item #5.



59

Item #5.



60

Item #5.



61

Item #5.



62

Item #5.



63

Item #5.



64

Item #5.



65

Item #5.



66

Item #5.



67

Item #5.



104
 03

0

104033

104B001

104A048058

104A048056

104A048055

104A048054

104A048053

104A048052

104A048051

104B020

104B022

104B065

104B064

104
020

104 024

104 025

104027

104A048063

104A048064

104A050

104A051

104A067

104A068 104A087
104A088

104A071

104A072

104A077
104A078

104A079

104A080

104
 02

8

104B083

104B026
104B077104B078104B079

104B025

104B027

10
4B

04
3

104B057
104B058

104B053104B054104B055104B056
104B059

104B060
104B061

104B062
104B063

104B069

104B070

104B071

104B072

104B081

104B030

104B034

104B024
104 032

104B086

104B092

104
B084

104B015001104B002

104B003
104C001

104C002

104C003

104C015002

104C004
104C005104C007

104C077
104C078
104C079

104
C015

001

104A049001

104A074

104
B0

87

120 001

104A069

104A070

104A049002

104A049

Wards Chapel Rd NE

Doug Ln NE

Colli
s R

est
au

ran
t R

d N
E

Collis
 Rd NE

Capps L
n NE

Co
pe

lan
La

ndi
ng Dr NE

Collis
Cir NE

Collis Marina Rd NE

Reynolds Dr NE
Collis Rd NE

R-1

R-1R

AG-1

RM-3

AG-2

C-2

68

Item #5.



69

Item #5.



70

Item #5.



 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 71 of 146 

Item Attachment Documents: 

 
6. Request by Howard McMichael, Jr., agent for Millicent Arnold & L.A. Copelan Jr., to rezone 

0.63 acres on Doug Lane from R-1 to RM-3 [Map 104B, Parcel 001, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

  

71

Item #6.



Request by Howard McMichael, Jr., agent for Millicent Arnold & Lawrence 
A. Copelan Jr. to rezone 0.63 acres on Doug Lane from R-1 to RM-3. [Map 

104B, Parcel 001, District 3].  
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The applicants are seeking to rezone this parcel along with three adjacent parcels 

with a total of 57.07 acres from R-1 to RM-3. If approved, the applicant would like 
to combine the four parcels in order to develop a waterfront community. The 

proposed development will consist of a total number of 124 Multi-Family 
Townhomes having the main entrance on Collis Road.  This would add 
approximately 310 residents to the neighborhood. The applicants are proposing to 

develop this subdivision in accordance with the Putnam County Development Codes 
with townhome and condominium units similar to Enclave at Waterfront and 

Cuscowilla Condominium and Townhome Units. Water and sewer are provided by 
Piedmont Water Resources. According to the applicant, the proposed use will place 
emphasis on lakeshore protection, recreation use of Lake Oconee, and promote 

common open space for property owners. 
The subject property is surrounded by both R-1 and AG-1 zoning, and it fronts one 

collector road (Collis Road) which will require operational improvements to safely 
accommodate the significant traffic volumes that will be generated from this 

development, if this rezoning is approved.   
 
Collis Road is a two-lane collector road with average pavement width of 

approximately 20 feet. Collis Road terminates at Wards Chapel Road, which is a 
major collector road. Adequate horizontal and vertical sight distance exists to the 

east and west of Wards Chapel Road for those vehicles exiting Collis Road.  The 
intersection radius at Collis Road & Wards Chapel is deficient and will need to be 
increased to a minimum of 25 feet to accommodate the additional traffic volumes. 

Based on the traffic study submitted by the applicant, the proposed development 
will increase daily traffic by 70% on Collis Road from the existing 1,331 two-way 

trips to 2,261 trips per day. The additional 930 trips on Collis Road, in addition to 
the substantial construction traffic associated with this development, will 
significantly impact the roadway pavement to the point of accelerated deterioration. 

Given the minimal asphalt thickness that exists on Collis Road, the county would 
expect the pavement will begin to substantially deteriorate within 2 years of 

construction commencing on this development. Pavement re-construction would be 
the recommended method of repair to Collis Road.  
 

Although the Future Land Use Comprehensive Plan is Agriculture/Forestry in this 
area, there are several similar developments within a five-mile radius of the 

proposed location. Recent development trends also indicate that single family and 
multifamily development will continue to occur in this area. Even though the 
development will have a significant impact on the area, the following 

recommendations will help mitigate these adverse impacts.  
  

72

Item #6.



Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 0.63 acres on Doug Lane 
[Map 104B, Parcel 001, District 3] from R-1 to RM-3 with the following 

conditions: 
1) The construction traffic associated with this development will have a 

detrimental short- and long-term impact to the serviceability of the 
roadway pavement of Collis Road. In addition, the increase in traffic 
volume generated upon built-out of this development will result in 

accelerated deterioration of the roadway pavement and the 
intersection radius at Wards Chapel and Collis Road. 

 
To offset the impacts to the existing pavement, the roadway reclamation 
and resurfacing repair tasks undertaken on Collis Road is recommended to 

be apportioned based this development share of the pavement impacts.  
The developer’s share of the repair cost will be provided to the county at 

specific development stages as described below.   
 
The private and public funding will be applied to performing the following 

roadway repairs: 
 

 Full depth reclamation of Collis Road. Reclaimed asphalt 
millings to be compacted prior to asphalt placement. Total 

length of roadway is 3,581 feet 
 Roadway resurfacing; surface course of 1.25 inches of 9.5 mm 

asphaltic concrete and binder course of 1.5 inches of 12.5 mm 

asphaltic concrete 
 Thermoplastic edge and centerline striping  

 Shoulder rehabilitation & traffic control 
Total estimated cost for performing these pavement repairs on Collis Road 
is $201,525. Assuming a 2023 completion date of the proposed 

development and utilizing a 7% per year cost escalation for labor and 
materials, the cost to perform this work in 2023 would be approximately 

$264,158. The cost apportioned to the applicant is determined to be 65% 
or $171,703. 
The cost to reconstruct the Wards Chapel at Collis Road intersection radii 

will be $10,000. The scope of work will consist of increasing the radii to a 
minimum of 25 feet with the widened section to be constructed with 6 

inches of graded aggregate base and 2.5 inches of 12.5 mm asphaltic 
concrete. The developer will be responsible for 100% of this repair cost. 
 

The total cost apportioned to the developer for intersection radii repairs 
and pavement reclamation and resurfacing will be $181,703. 

The applicant (developer) will provide incremental payments to the county 
at the following stages of the project development; 

 At rezoning approval by Board of Commissioners, 20% of the 

total amount or $36,340.60 will be provided to the county. This 
payment shall occur before a LDP is issued by the county. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 
Planning & Development for the initial 20% of the total units 

73

Item #6.



(total units as approved during the rezoning), the county will 
receive $36,340.6 from the developer 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 
Planning & Development for the subsequent 20% (or 40% 

total), the county will receive $36,340.6. 
 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 

Planning & Development for the subsequent 20% (or 60% 

total), the county will receive the remaining developer share of 
the total project repair cost of $72,681.20. 

 No payment will be required when the final 40% of the units 
receive a Certificate of Occupancy. 

The County will require that the payment at each stage of Certificate of 

Occupancy (at each 20% phase) be received either prior to or at the time 
that the unit resulting in reaching the 20% Certificate of Occupancy stage 

is attained. 
 

2) The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in 

combination of water quality retention ponds, will require 
implementation to minimize the negative effects of stormwater 

runoff from development imperviousness to Lake Oconee. The GA 
Stormwater Manual will be applied to the project under review. The 

manual’s water quality template will be used to assess the various 
water quality BMP options.  

3) Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces. 

Location of trees shall be determined by the county during the site 
development review (LDP phase). Provide two – 3-inch caliper trees 

per 100 feet on the shoulder of all roadways within the development. 
Trees to be placed on both sides of all internal roads. Specific 
location of the trees adjacent to the internal roads to be determined 

by the county during the site development review process. These 
tree plantings shall not preclude the developer from installing 

additional vegetation as he/she deems appropriate. 
4) Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the 

property line on Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential 

parcels on Collis Marina Road. The additional plantings shall provide 
a 75% buffer within 3 years of planting. Landscape plan and species 

to be approved during the development review phase 
5) Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road. Emergency exit shall 

not be paved. “Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the 

surface treatment for this access. A removable bollard (s) or similar 
barrier shall be used with only emergency services being provided 

entryway   
6) Deed an additional 10 feet of right-of-way along the property 

frontage (25 feet of ROW as measured from the road centerline). 

Deeded right-of-way shall be recorded with the Clerk of Courts 
during the platting process 

7) Construct a 5-foot shoulder and roadside ditches (minimum 2:1 side 
slopes) along the development’s frontage on Collis Road 

74

Item #6.



8) A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be 
required. This includes all structures and stormwater management 

facilities. Walkways/paths and boat docks are excluded from this 
setback requirement.   

9) This development project shall only include townhouses and/or 
condominiums not to exceed the proposed total of 124 units. Any 
increase beyond this total will require approval from the Board of 

Commissioner.  
10) Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access. Access 

shall be from Collis Road. 
 

11) This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and 

recordation of the plat as stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the 
Putnam County Code of Ordinances. 

 
 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to rezone 0.63 
acres on Doug Lane [Map 104B, Parcel 001, District 3] from R-1 to RM-3 with the 

following conditions: 
1) The construction traffic associated with this development will have a 

detrimental short- and long-term impact to the serviceability of the roadway 

pavement of Collis Road. In addition, the increase in traffic volume generated 
upon built-out of this development will result in accelerated deterioration of 

the roadway pavement and the intersection radius at Wards Chapel and 
Collis Road. 

 

To offset the impacts to the existing pavement, the roadway reclamation and 
resurfacing repair tasks undertaken on Collis Road is recommended to be 

apportioned based this development share of the pavement impacts.  The 
developer’s share of the repair cost will be provided to the county at specific 
development stages as described below.   

 
The private and public funding will be applied to performing the following roadway 

repairs: 
 

 Full depth reclamation of Collis Road. Reclaimed asphalt millings to be 

compacted prior to asphalt placement. Total length of roadway is 
3,581 feet 

 Roadway resurfacing; surface course of 1.25 inches of 9.5 mm 
asphaltic concrete and binder course of 1.5 inches of 12.5 mm 
asphaltic concrete 

 Thermoplastic edge and centerline striping  
 Shoulder rehabilitation & traffic control 

Total estimated cost for performing these pavement repairs on Collis Road is 
$201,525. Assuming a 2023 completion date of the proposed development and 

75

Item #6.



utilizing a 7% per year cost escalation for labor and materials, the cost to perform 
this work in 2023 would be approximately $264,158. The cost apportioned to the 

applicant is determined to be 65% or $171,703. 
The cost to reconstruct the Wards Chapel at Collis Road intersection radii will be 

$10,000. The scope of work will consist of increasing the radii to a minimum of 25 
feet with the widened section to be constructed with 6 inches of graded aggregate 
base and 2.5 inches of 12.5 mm asphaltic concrete. The developer will be 

responsible for 100% of this repair cost. 
 

The total cost apportioned to the developer for intersection radii repairs and 
pavement reclamation and resurfacing will be $181,703. 
The applicant (developer) will provide incremental payments to the county at the 

following stages of the project development; 
 At rezoning approval by Board of Commissioners, 20% of the total 

amount or $36,340.60 will be provided to the county. This payment 
shall occur before a LDP is issued by the county. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the initial 20% of the total units (total units as 
approved during the rezoning), the county will receive $36,340.6 from 

the developer 
 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the subsequent 20% (or 40% total), the county will 
receive $36,340.6. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the subsequent 20% (or 60% total), the county will 
receive the remaining developer share of the total project repair cost 

of $72,681.20. 
 No payment will be required when the final 40% of the units receive a 

Certificate of Occupancy. 

The County will require that the payment at each stage of Certificate of Occupancy 
(at each 20% phase) be received either prior to or at the time that the unit 

resulting in reaching the 20% Certificate of Occupancy stage is attained. 
 

2) The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in 

combination of water quality retention ponds, will require implementation to 
minimize the negative effects of stormwater runoff from development 

imperviousness to Lake Oconee. The GA Stormwater Manual will be applied 
to the project under review. The manual’s water quality template will be used 
to assess the various water quality BMP options.  

3) Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces. Location of 
trees shall be determined by the county during the site development review 

(LDP phase). Provide two – 3-inch caliper trees per 100 feet on the shoulder 
of all roadways within the development. Trees to be placed on both sides of 
all internal roads. Specific location of the trees adjacent to the internal roads 

to be determined by the county during the site development review process. 
These tree plantings shall not preclude the developer from installing 

additional vegetation as he/she deems appropriate. 

76

Item #6.



4) Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the property 
line on Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential parcels on Collis 

Marina Road. The additional plantings shall provide a 75% buffer within 3 
years of planting. Landscape plan and species to be approved during the 

development review phase 
5) Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road. Emergency exit shall not be 

paved. “Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the surface 

treatment for this access. A removable bollard (s) or similar barrier shall be 
used with only emergency services being provided entryway   

6) Deed an additional 10 feet of right-of-way along the property frontage (25 
feet of ROW as measured from the road centerline). Deeded right-of-way 
shall be recorded with the Clerk of Courts during the platting process 

7) Construct a 5-foot shoulder and roadside ditches (minimum 2:1 side slopes) 
along the development’s frontage on Collis Road 

8) A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be required. 
This includes all structures and stormwater management facilities. 
Walkways/paths and boat docks are excluded from this setback requirement.   

9) This development project shall only include townhouses and/or 
condominiums not to exceed the proposed total of 124 units. Any increase 

beyond this total will require approval from the Board of Commissioner.  
10) Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access. Access shall be 

from Collis Road. 
 

11) This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and 

recordation of the plat as stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the Putnam 
County Code of Ordinances. 

 

77

Item #6.



78

Item #6.



79

Item #6.



80

Item #6.



81

Item #6.



82

Item #6.



83

Item #6.



84

Item #6.



85

Item #6.



86

Item #6.



87

Item #6.



88

Item #6.



89

Item #6.



90

Item #6.



91

Item #6.



92

Item #6.



93

Item #6.



94

Item #6.



95

Item #6.



96

Item #6.



97

Item #6.



98

Item #6.



99

Item #6.



100

Item #6.



101

Item #6.



104
 03

3

104B001

104B090

104B091

104B092

104B002

104B003

104B004

104B008

10
4B

00
9

10
4B

09
3

104B094

104B095

104B005
104B006

104B007

Doug Ln NE

R-1

AG-1

102

Item #6.



103

Item #6.



104

Item #6.



 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 105 of 146 

Item Attachment Documents: 

 
7. Request by Howard McMichael, Jr., agent for Millicent Arnold & L.A. Copelan Jr., to rezone 

3.5 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 033, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

  

105

Item #7.



Request by Howard McMichael, Jr., agent for Millicent Arnold & Lawrence 
A. Copelan Jr. to rezone 3.5 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3. [Map 

104, Parcel 033, District 3].  
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The applicants are seeking to rezone this parcel along with three adjacent parcels 

with a total of 57.07 acres from R-1 to RM-3. If approved, the applicant would like 
to combine the four parcels in order to develop a waterfront community. The 

proposed development will consist of a total number of 124 Multi-Family 
Townhomes having the main entrance on Collis Road.  This would add 
approximately 310 residents to the neighborhood. The applicants are proposing to 

develop this subdivision in accordance with the Putnam County Development Codes 
with townhome and condominium units similar to Enclave at Waterfront and 

Cuscowilla Condominium and Townhome Units. Water and sewer are provided by 
Piedmont Water Resources. According to the applicant, the proposed use will place 
emphasis on lakeshore protection, recreation use of Lake Oconee, and promote 

common open space for property owners. 
 

The subject property is surrounded by both R-1 and AG-1 zoning, and it fronts one 
collector road (Collis Road) which will require operational improvements to safely 

accommodate the significant traffic volumes that will be generated from this 
development, if this rezoning is approved.   
 

Collis Road is a two-lane collector road with average pavement width of 
approximately 20 feet. Collis Road terminates at Wards Chapel Road, which is a 

major collector road. Adequate horizontal and vertical sight distance exists to the 
east and west of Wards Chapel Road for those vehicles exiting Collis Road.  The 
intersection radius at Collis Road & Wards Chapel is deficient and will need to be 

increased to a minimum of 25 feet to accommodate the additional traffic volumes. 
Based on the traffic study submitted by the applicant, the proposed development 

will increase daily traffic by 70% on Collis Road from the existing 1,331 two-way 
trips to 2,261 trips per day. The additional 930 trips on Collis Road, in addition to 
the substantial construction traffic associated with this development, will 

significantly impact the roadway pavement to the point of accelerated deterioration. 
Given the minimal asphalt thickness that exists on Collis Road, the county would 

expect the pavement will begin to substantially deteriorate within 2 years of 
construction commencing on this development. Pavement re-construction would be 
the recommended method of repair to Collis Road.  

 
Although the Future Land Use Comprehensive Plan is Agriculture/Forestry in this 

area, there are several similar developments within a five-mile radius of the 
proposed location. Recent development trends also indicate that single family and 
multifamily development will continue to occur in this area. Even though the 

development will have a significant impact on the area, the following 
recommendations will help mitigate these adverse impacts.  

  

106

Item #7.



Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 3.5 acres on Collis Road 
[Map 104, Parcel 033, District 3] from R-1 to RM-3 with the following 

conditions: 
1) The construction traffic associated with this development will have a 

detrimental short- and long-term impact to the serviceability of the 
roadway pavement of Collis Road. In addition, the increase in traffic 
volume generated upon built-out of this development will result in 

accelerated deterioration of the roadway pavement and the 
intersection radius at Wards Chapel and Collis Road. 

 
To offset the impacts to the existing pavement, the roadway reclamation 
and resurfacing repair tasks undertaken on Collis Road is recommended to 

be apportioned based this development share of the pavement impacts.  
The developer’s share of the repair cost will be provided to the county at 

specific development stages as described below.   
 
The private and public funding will be applied to performing the following 

roadway repairs: 
 

a. Full depth reclamation of Collis Road. Reclaimed asphalt 
millings to be compacted prior to asphalt placement. Total 

length of roadway is 3,581 feet 
b. Roadway resurfacing; surface course of 1.25 inches of 9.5 mm 

asphaltic concrete and binder course of 1.5 inches of 12.5 mm 

asphaltic concrete 
c. Thermoplastic edge and centerline striping  

d. Shoulder rehabilitation & traffic control 
Total estimated cost for performing these pavement repairs on Collis Road 
is $201,525. Assuming a 2023 completion date of the proposed 

development and utilizing a 7% per year cost escalation for labor and 
materials, the cost to perform this work in 2023 would be approximately 

$264,158. The cost apportioned to the applicant is determined to be 65% 
or $171,703. 
The cost to reconstruct the Wards Chapel at Collis Road intersection radii 

will be $10,000. The scope of work will consist of increasing the radii to a 
minimum of 25 feet with the widened section to be constructed with 6 

inches of graded aggregate base and 2.5 inches of 12.5 mm asphaltic 
concrete. The developer will be responsible for 100% of this repair cost. 
 

The total cost apportioned to the developer for intersection radii repairs 
and pavement reclamation and resurfacing will be $181,703. 

The applicant (developer) will provide incremental payments to the county 
at the following stages of the project development; 

 At rezoning approval by Board of Commissioners, 20% of the 

total amount or $36,340.60 will be provided to the county. This 
payment shall occur before a LDP is issued by the county. 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 
Planning & Development for the initial 20% of the total units 

107

Item #7.



(total units as approved during the rezoning), the county will 
receive $36,340.6 from the developer 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 
Planning & Development for the subsequent 20% (or 40% 

total), the county will receive $36,340.6. 
 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from 

Planning & Development for the subsequent 20% (or 60% 

total), the county will receive the remaining developer share of 
the total project repair cost of $72,681.20. 

 No payment will be required when the final 40% of the units 
receive a Certificate of Occupancy. 

The County will require that the payment at each stage of Certificate of 

Occupancy (at each 20% phase) be received either prior to or at the time 
that the unit resulting in reaching the 20% Certificate of Occupancy stage 

is attained. 
 

2) The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in 

combination of water quality retention ponds, will require 
implementation to minimize the negative effects of stormwater 

runoff from development imperviousness to Lake Oconee. The GA 
Stormwater Manual will be applied to the project under review. The 

manual’s water quality template will be used to assess the various 
water quality BMP options.  

3) Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces. 

Location of trees shall be determined by the county during the site 
development review (LDP phase). Provide two – 3-inch caliper trees 

per 100 feet on the shoulder of all roadways within the development. 
Trees to be placed on both sides of all internal roads. Specific 
location of the trees adjacent to the internal roads to be determined 

by the county during the site development review process. These 
tree plantings shall not preclude the developer from installing 

additional vegetation as he/she deems appropriate. 
4) Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the 

property line on Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential 

parcels on Collis Marina Road. The additional plantings shall provide 
a 75% buffer within 3 years of planting. Landscape plan and species 

to be approved during the development review phase 
5) Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road. Emergency exit shall 

not be paved. “Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the 

surface treatment for this access. A removable bollard (s) or similar 
barrier shall be used with only emergency services being provided 

entryway   
6) Deed an additional 10 feet of right-of-way along the property 

frontage (25 feet of ROW as measured from the road centerline). 

Deeded right-of-way shall be recorded with the Clerk of Courts 
during the platting process 

7) Construct a 5-foot shoulder and roadside ditches (minimum 2:1 side 
slopes) along the development’s frontage on Collis Road 

108

Item #7.



8) A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be 
required. This includes all structures and stormwater management 

facilities. Walkways/paths and boat docks are excluded from this 
setback requirement.   

9) This development project shall only include townhouses and/or 
condominiums not to exceed the proposed total of 124 units. Any 
increase beyond this total will require approval from the Board of 

Commissioner.  
10) Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access. Access 

shall be from Collis Road. 
11) This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and 

recordation of the plat as stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the 

Putnam County Code of Ordinances. 
 

 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

 
Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to rezone 3.5 

acres on Collis Road [Map 104, Parcel 033, District 3] from R-1 to RM-3 with the 
following conditions: 

1) The construction traffic associated with this development will have a 
detrimental short- and long-term impact to the serviceability of the roadway 
pavement of Collis Road. In addition, the increase in traffic volume generated 

upon built-out of this development will result in accelerated deterioration of 
the roadway pavement and the intersection radius at Wards Chapel and 

Collis Road. 
 
To offset the impacts to the existing pavement, the roadway reclamation and 

resurfacing repair tasks undertaken on Collis Road is recommended to be 
apportioned based this development share of the pavement impacts.  The 

developer’s share of the repair cost will be provided to the county at specific 
development stages as described below.   
 

The private and public funding will be applied to performing the following roadway 
repairs: 

 
a. Full depth reclamation of Collis Road. Reclaimed asphalt millings to be 

compacted prior to asphalt placement. Total length of roadway is 

3,581 feet 
b. Roadway resurfacing; surface course of 1.25 inches of 9.5 mm 

asphaltic concrete and binder course of 1.5 inches of 12.5 mm 
asphaltic concrete 

c. Thermoplastic edge and centerline striping  

d. Shoulder rehabilitation & traffic control 
Total estimated cost for performing these pavement repairs on Collis Road is 

$201,525. Assuming a 2023 completion date of the proposed development and 
utilizing a 7% per year cost escalation for labor and materials, the cost to perform 

109

Item #7.



this work in 2023 would be approximately $264,158. The cost apportioned to the 
applicant is determined to be 65% or $171,703. 

The cost to reconstruct the Wards Chapel at Collis Road intersection radii will be 
$10,000. The scope of work will consist of increasing the radii to a minimum of 25 

feet with the widened section to be constructed with 6 inches of graded aggregate 
base and 2.5 inches of 12.5 mm asphaltic concrete. The developer will be 
responsible for 100% of this repair cost. 

 
The total cost apportioned to the developer for intersection radii repairs and 

pavement reclamation and resurfacing will be $181,703. 
The applicant (developer) will provide incremental payments to the county at the 
following stages of the project development; 

 At rezoning approval by Board of Commissioners, 20% of the total 
amount or $36,340.60 will be provided to the county. This payment 

shall occur before a LDP is issued by the county. 
 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the initial 20% of the total units (total units as 

approved during the rezoning), the county will receive $36,340.6 from 
the developer 

 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 
& Development for the subsequent 20% (or 40% total), the county will 

receive $36,340.6. 
 Upon the developer receiving certificate of occupancies from Planning 

& Development for the subsequent 20% (or 60% total), the county will 

receive the remaining developer share of the total project repair cost 
of $72,681.20. 

 No payment will be required when the final 40% of the units receive a 
Certificate of Occupancy. 

The County will require that the payment at each stage of Certificate of Occupancy 

(at each 20% phase) be received either prior to or at the time that the unit 
resulting in reaching the 20% Certificate of Occupancy stage is attained. 

 
2) The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in 

combination of water quality retention ponds, will require implementation to 

minimize the negative effects of stormwater runoff from development 
imperviousness to Lake Oconee. The GA Stormwater Manual will be applied 

to the project under review. The manual’s water quality template will be used 
to assess the various water quality BMP options.  

3) Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces. Location of 

trees shall be determined by the county during the site development review 
(LDP phase). Provide two – 3-inch caliper trees per 100 feet on the shoulder 

of all roadways within the development. Trees to be placed on both sides of 
all internal roads. Specific location of the trees adjacent to the internal roads 
to be determined by the county during the site development review process. 

These tree plantings shall not preclude the developer from installing 
additional vegetation as he/she deems appropriate. 

4) Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the property 
line on Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential parcels on Collis 

110

Item #7.



Marina Road. The additional plantings shall provide a 75% buffer within 3 
years of planting. Landscape plan and species to be approved during the 

development review phase 
5) Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road. Emergency exit shall not be 

paved. “Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the surface 
treatment for this access. A removable bollard (s) or similar barrier shall be 
used with only emergency services being provided entryway   

6) Deed an additional 10 feet of right-of-way along the property frontage (25 
feet of ROW as measured from the road centerline). Deeded right-of-way 

shall be recorded with the Clerk of Courts during the platting process 
7) Construct a 5-foot shoulder and roadside ditches (minimum 2:1 side slopes) 

along the development’s frontage on Collis Road 

8) A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be required. 
This includes all structures and stormwater management facilities. 

Walkways/paths and boat docks are excluded from this setback requirement.   
9) This development project shall only include townhouses and/or 

condominiums not to exceed the proposed total of 124 units. Any increase 

beyond this total will require approval from the Board of Commissioner.  
10) Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access. Access shall be 

from Collis Road. 
 

11) This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and 
recordation of the plat as stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the Putnam 
County Code of Ordinances. 

111

Item #7.



112

Item #7.



113

Item #7.



114

Item #7.



115

Item #7.



116

Item #7.



117

Item #7.



118

Item #7.



119

Item #7.



120

Item #7.



121

Item #7.



122

Item #7.



123

Item #7.



124

Item #7.



125

Item #7.



126

Item #7.



127

Item #7.



128

Item #7.



129

Item #7.



130

Item #7.



131

Item #7.



132

Item #7.



133

Item #7.



134

Item #7.



104
 03

0

104033

104B001

104A048050

104A048058

104A048056

104A048055

104A048054

104A048053

104A048052

104A048051

104B020

104B022

104B065

104B064104 024

104 025

104027

104A048063

104A048064

104A050

104A052
104A051

104A067 104A089
104A066

104A068
104A087

104A088

104A071

104A072

104A077
104A078

104A079

104A080

104
 02

8

104B083

104B026
104B077104B078104B079

104B025

104B027

10
4B

04
3

104B057
104B058

104B053104B054104B055104B056
104B059104B060

104B061
104B062

104B063

104B069

104B070

104B071

104B072

104B081

104B030

104B034

104B024
104 032

104B086

104B092

104
B084

104B015001104B002

104B008

104C001

104C002

104C003

104C015002

104C004
104C005104C007

104C077

104C079

104
C015

001

104A049001

104A074

104
B015

104
B0

87

120 001

104A069

104A070

104A049002

104A049

Wards Chapel Rd NE
Ca

pp
sL

nN
E Doug Ln NE

Colli
s R

es
tau

ran
t R

d N
E

Collis
 Rd NE

Co
pe

lan
La

ndi
ng Dr NE

Capps L
n NE

Collis
Cir NE

Collis Marina Rd NE

Reynolds Dr NE
Collis Rd NE

R-1

R-1R

AG-1

RM-3

AG-2

C-2

135

Item #7.



136

Item #7.



137

Item #7.



 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 138 of 146 

Item Attachment Documents: 

 
10. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - December 17, 2019 Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Approval of Minutes - December 17, 2019 Executive Session (staff-CC) 

c. Approval of 2020 Alcohol Licenses (staff-CC) 

d. Appointment of Phillip Armstrong to Complete Count Committee (BW) 

  

138

Item #10.



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 1 of 5                                                                                     Approved 

December 17, 2019                                                                                                                                                  _______________ 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Minutes 

Tuesday, December 17, 2019 ◊ 6:30 PM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners met on Tuesday, December 17, 2019 at 

approximately 6:30 PM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, 

Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 

 

PRESENT  

Chairman Billy Webster 

Commissioner Kelvin Irvin 

Commissioner Daniel Brown 

Commissioner Bill Sharp 

Commissioner Trevor Addison 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

County Attorney Barry Fleming 

Deputy County Manager Lisa Jackson 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

 

 

Opening 
1. Welcome - Call to Order 

Chairman Webster called the meeting to order at approximately 6:30 p.m. 

(Copy of agenda made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.)  

 

2. Invocation - Rev. Pete Mattix 

Rev. Pete Mattix gave the invocation. 

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance (staff) 

Deputy County Manager Lisa Jackson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

139

Item #10.



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 2 of 5                                                                                     Approved 

December 17, 2019                                                                                                                                                  _______________ 

Zoning Public Hearing 
4. Request by Gene Holder to rezone 10.23 acres at 341 Firetower Road from AG-1 to R-2 

[Map 002, Parcel 014003, District 1] (staff-P&D) 

Mr. Gene Holder spoke in support of this request.  No one signed in to speak against this item. 

Planning & Development staff recommendation was for approval. 

Motion to approve request by Gene Holder to rezone 10.23 acres at 341 Firetower Road 

from AG-1 to R-2 [Map 002, Parcel 014003, District 1]. 

Motion made by Commissioner Irvin, Seconded by Commissioner Addison. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

 

Regular Business Meeting 
5. Approval of Agenda 

Motion to approve the Agenda. 

Motion made by Commissioner Addison, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

 

6. Public Comments 

None 

 

7. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - December 6, 2019 Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Approval of Minutes - December 6, 2019 Executive Session (staff-CC) 

c. Approval of Minutes - December 6, 2019 Work Session (staff-CC) 

d. Approval of 2020 Alcohol Licenses (staff-CC) 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  

Motion made by Commissioner Addison, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

(Copy of alcohol licenses made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to 

__________.) 

 

8. Request from EMS to purchase five Stryker Lifepack 15 Monitors and three Lucas 3 devices 

(staff-EMS) 

EMS Director Brad Murphey explained request and answered questions. 

Motion to approve the request from EMS to purchase five Stryker Lifepack 15 Monitors 

and three Lucas 3 devices in the amount of $193,423.32 to be funded out of SPLOST #9. 

Motion made by Commissioner Addison, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

 

9. Approval of Changes to the Putnam County Personnel Policy (staff-HR) 

No action taken. 

 

 

140

Item #10.



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 3 of 5                                                                                     Approved 

December 17, 2019                                                                                                                                                  _______________ 

10. Approval of GDOT Drug and Alcohol Policy (staff-HR/Transit) 

Motion to authorize the Chairman to sign the GDOT Zero Tolerance Drug and Alcohol 

Policy. 

Motion made by Commissioner Addison, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

(Copy of policy made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to __________.) 

 

11. Authorization for Chairman to sign Resolution for Putnam General Hospital Referendum 

Chairman Webster read the resolution. 

Motion to authorize the Chairman to sign the Resolution Requesting Local Legislation 

Authorizing the Call for a Referendum Election to Consider Support for the Putnam 

General Hospital Authority. 

Motion made by Commissioner Addison, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

(Copy of resolution made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

12. Approval of First Amendment to the By-Laws of Eatonton-Putnam Water and Sewer 

Authority (BW) 

Commissioner Addison recommended the following amendments to the document:  

• Section 3.3.1 - The first sentence will read “any member” instead of any “two members” 

(first sentence) 

• Remove Section 7.1  

Motion to approve the First Amendment to the By-Laws of Eatonton-Putnam Water and 

Sewer Authority as amended. 

Motion made by Commissioner Addison, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

(Copy of amendment made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to 

__________.) 

 

13. Surplus Fixed Assets for Sale (staff-Finance) 

Motion to surplus the list of fixed assets as presented. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

(Copy of list made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

14. Approval of 2020 BOC Meeting Schedule (staff-CC) 

Motion to approve the 2020 BOC Meeting Schedule as presented. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

(Copy of schedule made a part of the minutes on minute book page ___________.) 

 

141

Item #10.



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 4 of 5                                                                                     Approved 

December 17, 2019                                                                                                                                                  _______________ 

Reports/Announcements 
15. County Manager Report 

Deputy County Manager Jackson reminded the board about the Christmas lunch on Friday, 

December 20th at noon and encouraged each one to come and bring their spouses. 

 

16. County Attorney Report 

No report. 

 

17. Commissioner Announcements 

Commissioner Irvin: none 

 

Commissioner Brown: none 

 

Commissioner Sharp: wished everyone a Merry Christmas 

 

Commissioner Addison: wished everyone a Merry Christmas 

 

Chairman Webster: wished everyone a Merry Christmas 

 

Executive Session 
18. Enter Executive Session as allowed by O.C.G.A. 50-14-4 for Personnel, Litigation, or Real 

Estate 

Motion to enter Executive Session as allowed by O.C.G.A. 50-14-4 for Personnel. 

Motion made by Commissioner Irvin, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

 

 

Meeting closed at approximately 7:25 p.m. 

 

 

19. Reopen meeting and execute Affidavit concerning the subject matter of the closed portion of 

the meeting 

Motion to reopen the meeting and execute the Affidavit concerning the subject matter of 

the closed portion of the meeting. 

Motion made by Commissioner Addison, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

(Copy of affidavit made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

 

Meeting reconvened at approximately 8:49 p.m. 

 

 

20. Action, if any, resulting from the Executive Session 

One item was discussed.  No action was taken. 

142

Item #10.



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 5 of 5                                                                                     Approved 

December 17, 2019                                                                                                                                                  _______________ 

Closing 
21. Adjournment 

Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Addison 

 

 

Meeting adjourned at approximately 8:51 p.m. 

 
 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Billy Webster 

County Clerk       Chairman 

143

Item #10.



PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

Office of the County Clerk 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 

706-485-5826 (main office) ◊ 706-485-1877 (direct line) ◊ 706-923-2345 (fax) 

lbutterworth@putnamcountyga.us ◊ www.putnamcountyga.us 

 

 

 

 

The draft minutes of the December 17, 2019 Executive 

Session are available for Commissioner review in the 

Clerk’s office. 
 

144

Item #10.



PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

Office of the County Clerk 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 

706-485-5826 (main office) ◊ 706-485-1877 (direct line) ◊ 706-923-2345 (fax) 

lbutterworth@putnamcountyga.us ◊ www.putnamcountyga.us 
 

 

Approval of 2020 Alcohol Licenses 

 
 

The following alcohol license applications (which are available for review in 

the County Clerk’s office) have been approved by the Sheriff, Fire Marshal, 
Building Inspector, and Tax Commissioner and are ready for BOC approval: 
 

Individual 

Name 

Business Name Address License Type 

Michael John 

Jansen 

BIG Restaurants, 

LLC dba/Bone 

Island Grillhouse 

920 Lake 

Oconee Parkway 

Retail Consumption on 

Premises: Malt Beverages 

and/or Wine and Distilled Spirits 

Miao Ying Wu 

Inaho Yakata LLC 

dba/Inaho 

Japanese Steak & 

Sushi 

103 Harmony 

Crossing, Suite 

6 

Retail Consumption on 

Premises: Malt Beverages 

and/or Wine and Distilled Spirits 

Javier Medina 
El Manguillo, Inc. 

dba/El Agave 

960 Greensboro 

Road 

Retail Consumption on 

Premises: Malt Beverages 

and/or Wine and Distilled Spirits 

Hiren Patel 

406 Pea Ridge 

Road LLC 

dba/KC’s Food 

Mart 

406 Pea Ridge 

Road 

Retail Package: Malt Beverages 

and Wine 

Prakash Patel 

Jay Pranam LLC 

dba/Discount 

Liquor Store 

160 Pea Ridge 

Road 

Retail Package: Malt Beverages, 

Wine, and Distilled Spirits 

 

145

Item #10.



146

Item #10.


	Top
	 2020-01-03 BOC Welcome
	2. 2020-01-03 BOC Invocation
	3. 2020-01-03 BOC Pledge
	 2020-01-03 BOC Rezoning-McMichael1
	McMichael Recommendations1
	Rezoning Map
	McMichael Rezoning Application1
	McMichael SitePlan1
	McMichael Map1
	McMichael Map1-2
	McMichael Map1-3

	5. 2020-01-03 BOC Rezoning-McMichael2
	McMichael Recommendations2
	Rezoning Map
	McMichael Rezoning Application2
	McMichael SitePlan2
	McMichael Map2
	McMichael Map2-2
	McMichael Map2-3

	6. 2020-01-03 BOC Rezoning-McMichael3
	McMichael Recommendations3
	Rezoning Map
	McMichael Rezoning Application3
	McMichael SitePlan3
	McMichael Map3
	McMichael Map3-2
	McMichael Map3-3

	7. 2020-01-03 BOC Rezoning-McMichael4
	McMichael Recommendations4
	Rezoning Map
	McMichael Rezoning Application4
	McMichael SitePlan4
	McMichael Map4
	McMIchael Map4-2
	McMichael Map4-3

	 2020-01-03 BOC Agenda Approval
	9. 2020-01-03 BOC Public Comments
	10. 2020-01-03 BOC Consent Agenda
	DRAFT 12-17-19 BOC Minutes
	Executive Session Minutes Agenda Item
	Agenda Item-Alcohol Licenses
	CCC Application-Armstrong-edited

	 2020-01-03 BOC CM Report
	12. 2020-01-03 BOC CA Report
	13. 2020-01-03 BOC Comm Announcements
	 2020-01-03 BOC ES
	15. 2020-01-03 BOC Reopen Meeting
	16. 2020-01-03 BOC ES Action
	 2020-01-03 BOC Adjourn
	Bottom

